IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

No. 2009-CA-01314

M. CURTISS MCKEE AND ANN CRAFT MCKEE	APPELLANTS
V.	
BOWERS WINDOW & DOOR COMPANY, INC.	APPELLEE
(CONSOLIDATED WITH)	
No. 2009-CA-01315	
M. CURTISS MCKEE AND ANN CRAFT MCKEE	APPELLANTS
V.	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

WEATHER SHIELD MANUFACTURING, INC.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

APPELLEE

DENNIS L. HORN, MSB SHIRLEY PAYNE, MSB HORN & PAYNE, PLLC POST OFFICE Box 2754 MADISON, MISSISSIPPI 39130-2754 (601) 853-6090 (Telephone) (601) 853-2878 (Facsimile)

IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

No. 2009-CA-01314

M. CURTISS MCKEE AND ANN CRAFT MCKEE

V.

BOWERS WINDOW & DOOR COMPANY, INC.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether a proffered expert can be excluded under *Daubert* despite his twenty-four years of practical experience and familiarity with the usages of the trade?

2. Whether summary judgment must be reversed where extensive factual issues must be decided by a jury, including:

- whether seller breached an express warranty when the windows failed despite maintenance,

- whether finger-jointed windows should have been recommended as suitable for a lakefront home,

- whether windows that failed to exclude water from the house met expectations or would pass as adequate under usage in the trade,

- whether high humidity was factored into to the window companies' choice of windows,

- whether large pictures windows should have been recommended to be made of tempered glass,

- whether the window companies were negligent in their choice, manufacture, or assembly of the subject windows,

- whether windows that leaked immediately after the homeowners moved into their new house and which rotted through the window frames and surrounding walls, all within two years, would breach express warranties and warranties of merchantability and suitability for particular purpose, and

- whether an explanation that the windows would be satisfactory with proper maintenance operates as an express warranty?

-2-

IN THE MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

No. 2009-CA-01314

M. CURTISS McKEE AND ANN CRAFT McKEE	APPELLANTS
V.	
BOWERS WINDOW & DOOR COMPANY, INC.	APPELLEE
(CONSOLIDATED WITH)	
No. 2009-CA-01315	
M. CURTISS McKEE AND ANN CRAFT McKEE	APPELLANTS
V.	
WEATHER SHIELD MANUFACTURING, INC.	APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a home construction defects case. It involves issues of products liability,

negligence, and breach of express and implied warranties.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

Curtiss and Ann McKee commenced this action in the circuit court of Madison County, R. Vol. 1, 000016, after their newly constructed home revealed serious water damage and rot under the window frames throughout the interior of the walls. R. Vol. 3, 000320, p. 14. Their discovery followed their having witnessed water flowing from and through the windows during the first rainstorms immediately after they moved in. R. Vol. 3, 000412, p. 12.

After several different judges recused themselves, R. Vol. 1, 000007, RE 12, the case was assigned to Honorable Marcus Gordan, who granted the summary judgment orders and an order excluding the homeowners' expert, which orders are appealed here. R. Vol. 13.

The current defendant appellees, Weather Shield and Bowers Window & Door, had filed motions for summary judgment and joined together in motions to strike the testimony of the McKees' expert witness building contractor, William A. Birdsong, Jr. Judge Gordon granted all defense motions. First, the court's bench opinion granted the *Daubert* motions to strike the homeowners' expert. R. Vol. 13, p. 39, RE 25. Next, the court granted summary judgment by two successive orders, first granting summary judgment for Bowers, R. Vol. 8, 001179, RE 35, and then for Weather Shield, R. Vol. 8, 001183, RE 37.

With regard to the expert witness, the circuit judge opined, "I sat here and I listened to all of you. A Judge has a difficult time separating his own personal beliefs and knowledge from the evidence of a case oftentimes. Uh - - I, as a grown person, a property owner, have an opinion myself about the - - uh - - effectiveness of wooden window and the finger-joints and - - you know, I'm familiar with finger-joints. I know what that is. Whether or not - - uh - - that - - uh - - is the proper joints that's - - would be utilized by the industry knowing that - - uh - - many homes today are still standing with wooden windows - - with finger-joints, perhaps my home may be one of those... I feel it very difficult to find that William Birdsong, under the decisions of the Kuhmo trial, the McLemore trial, and even the criminal case that was tried up in - - uh - - Columbus not too long ago, would qualify him under the facts of this case and with his testimony to give testimony as an expert, so that is the ruling of the Court." R. Vol. 13, p. 39-40, RE 25-26.

-4-

With regard to the summary judgment motions, the circuit judge ruled: "I think common knowledge of all of us who live in this area is that we have as state that - - uh - - unfortunately has a lot of humidity that - - uh - - causes wood to be subjected to rot and deterioration. All of us who are adult owners of homes with - - frame homes with windows would recognize that the great majority of the homes in this state have wooden windows. The Plaintiffs in this case should have known that in the location of their home near a lake near the water would be more susceptible to rot and deterioration than a home located somewhere else; yet they chose the site of their home. The Plaintiff, in my opinion, has to - - has failed to show a material matter to be developed. I'm going to sustain the motion....." R. Vol.13, p. 59. RE 28.

Meanwhile, the homeowners entered into a settlement with the general contractor who had supervised the building of their home. R. Vol. I, 000013. The contractor then dismissed its cross-claims against Defendant, Bowers Window & Door Company, Inc. R. Vol. 8, 001181, RE 33. The court below certified the first summary judgment decision as to Bowers for a Rule 54(b) appeal. R. Vol. 8, p. 1179, RE 35. After the court granted the second summary judgment as to Weather Shield, R. Vol 8, p. 1183, RE 37, the 54(b) certification became unnecessary. There were no issues remaining for decision in the court below.

The homeowners timely filed their appeals of both summary judgments. R. Vol. 8, 001185, and R. Vol. 9, 001202, RE 44 and 39. The Mississippi Supreme Court granted their motion to consolidate the appeals of the separate summary judgment orders, both of which had incorporated the circuit court's evidentiary *Daubert* ruling excluding the homeowners' expert.

-5-

Facts

The photographs in this record show a ruined house. *E.g.*, R. 695, RE 52, and R. 722, RE 53.¹ The rot under and around the window frames can clearly be seen. *E.g.*, RE 51, 52, 54, and 55; R. 694, 695, 761 and 771. When the damaged walls were pulled apart, the underlying structures were rotten. R. 770. There were mushrooms growing from the window sills. R. Vol. 3, 424-425, pp. 60-61, R. Vol. 3, 433, p. 96. Insect infestation followed. R. 683, RE 49. Pictures showing the damage are included in the record excerpts. Further pictures appear in the record at Vol. 5, p. 638 through Vol. 6, p. 777, including pictures of the house as it was designed to look, Vol. 6, pp. 775 and 776.

The problems became obvious soon after the McKees moved into their new home. After "the first really heavy rain, we had water that went from the window near Curtiss's desk area in our keeping room to the door of our pantry - - the door to our utility room. We were standing in water." R. Vol. 3, 000412, p. 12.

Weather Shield and Bowers Window & Door, are the manufacturer and local seller, respectively, of the allegedly defective windows causing the extensive damage to the home. The windows were the first place that leaks and rot appeared in the ruined new house. R. Vol. 6, 777a. The homeowners, Ann and Curtiss McKee began, began construction on their new home in 1998. R. Vol. 3, 420, p. 42. They moved into the house in late 1999. R. Vol. 3, 412, p. 12. Immediately they saw that all of the windows, not only the windows in the kitchen area, were beginning to leak. R. Vol. 3, 413, p. 16. Shortly thereafter the home began to rot. Vol. 3, 414,

-6-

All photographs are authenticated by affidavit appearing at R.Vol. 5, 635-636, and by deposition at Vol. 6, 790, 43.

p. 20. The sashes in "movable" windows around the house leaked, causing the double panes to become cloudy. R. Vol. 5, 684, RE 50; R. Vol. 3, 000443, p. 135-136.. The windows rotted from and through the sills and the frames of the windows themselves. R. Vol. 6, 795, p. 64 and Vol. 5, 646, 690. When it rained you could see water standing on the window sills. R. Vol. 3, 415, p. 24. As Ann McKee said, "I actually saw water coming in from those windows onto the floor." R. Vol. 3, 415, p.23-24. "Mold was terrible in our house, where we actually had mushrooms growing out of windows...." R. Vol. 3, 424-425, pp. 60-61, R. 695, RE 52; R. 709. There are at least material issues of fact as to whether the windows were properly chosen, or sealed, or assembled², or preserved, to prohibit water intrusion and rot, as required by industry standards and common sense.

The Plaintiffs' building contractor witness, William A. Birdsong, Jr., is competent by experience to testify as an expert in the present case. He is a resident of Bolton, Mississippi. He is a general contractor who has worked in the Jackson, Mississippi, area on residential and commercial structures for 24 years. R. Vol 13, p. 5. He has worked on windows "thousands" of times. R. Vol. 13, p.6.

In the spring of 2002, the McKees contacted Mr. Birdsong. *Id.*, 13. At the time he examined the house, Mr. Birdsong noticed that windows were rotting and the fascia boards were rotting. R. Vol. 13, p.10, *Id.*, p. 14. Mr. Birdsong was of the opinion that the bulk of the problem with the house was water that came through the bottom seal of each window, the sash, went from there to and behind the stucco and thereby lead to termite problems and rot. R. Vol.

-7-

² Some of the windows, the "composite" windows, were in all probability put together by the dealer, Bowers. R. Vol. 11, 001615-001617.

13, p. 8, *Id.*, 17-18.³ The window company's expert agreed that the rot was extensive. "I'd call it severe. Extensive, yes. Q. And the house basically had to be rebuilt, didn't it? A. It had to be rebuilt." Vol.11, 001603, p. 77.

The entirety of Mr. Birdsong's 23+ years of experience have been in central Mississippi, the Jackson metro area. R.Vol. 3, 318, 6. Mr. Birdsong's opinion is that wooden windows in Mississippi eventually, even with maintenance, all are going to rot. *Id.*, pp. 26-27. He testified in his years as a residential building contractor he only used wooden windows when the owners "were just hell bent on having them." R. Vol. 3, 323, pp. 24-27. If the homeowner has to have a wooden window, Birdsong counsels them not to use a "finger joint" (pieces of wood glued together to form the window frame, R. Vol. 10, 001460), which rot faster than a regular piece of wood. He recommends a solid type of mahogany or equivalent type of wood. Metal or vinyl clad windows would have been a better application in the McKee house. R. Vol. 3, 324, p. 30. If those windows had been installed in the McKee house, "We wouldn't be here today...." *Id.* The finger-jointed wooden windows were not suitable for the McKee home. R. Vol. 13, p. 8.

The large plate-glass windows in the back of the house overlooking the lake were large enough so that they should have been "tempered." R. Vol. 3, 324, pp. 31-32. The main reason for tempered glass is for safety so that if the window breaks it will not shatter into sharp pieces. *Id.* p. 43. The windows initially placed in the McKee house were not tempered; that fact is verified because the windows did not have a stamp on them. R. Vol. 3, 329 p. 52. Equally, the large picture windows needed to be made of tempered glass, because, "it's just too big. Anything

³For example, R. Vol. 5, 640, 641, 741 and 716 are photographs showing rot beneath the window sills. In the photographs at R. Vol. 6, 790 and 803, water is shown coming in through the window.

that size has to be tempered." R. Vol. 3, 327, p.42. Bowers failed to so inform the McKees, but let them rely on Bower's implicit warranty that the plate glass chosen by Bowers would be safe.

Mr. Birdsong observed that the finger joint on all of the windows where the water hits the stool (sill) started "the rot" "there and goes up." "It would rot." R. Vol. 3, 325, p. 36. It follows that in response to the question, "What should you do to keep water from getting around the sill like you described," Mr. Birdsong answered "don't use a wooden window on the outside." *Id.*, p. 37. Mr. Birdsong is of the opinion that metal clad or vinyl clad windows are appropriate because in central Mississippi those windows will not rot. R. Vol. 3, 328, p. 48.

Weather Shield's promotional literature states that "Weather Shield products are designed to perform under adverse weather conditions. Additional product options are available for extreme weather conditions such as seacoast climates... and higher humidity areas." R. Vol. 10, 001362, #6. Weather Shield's proffered expert Phil Drake purported not to know what that quoted passage from their own literature meant. R. Vol. 11, 001565, p. 28. His colleague Will Smith, however, explained that there were a number of options, including particular materials to be provided for certain environmental conditions, different stops, different weather strips, and closed sill versus open sill, double or triple glass and insulated glass. R. Vol. 11, 001614, pp. 18-20.

Weather Shield's expert Phil Drake admits "...you could change the materials to make it less maintenance in a high humidity area. ... For example, you could chose a vinyl window because vinyl is relatively unaffected by water and humidity." R. Vol. 11, 001566, p. 32. The windows ordered by Bowers in this case were made of pine. R. Vol. 11, 001571, p. 53 and 001613, p. 15. When asked again about using vinyl, "Q. Would it also be true you'd have less

-9-

5.

rot with a vinyl window?" Phil Drake answered, "They – I've never seen vinyl rot yet." Vol. 11, 001581, p. 90.

The windows used in the McKee home apparently were designed for a less humid environment. Big picture windows such as the ones chosen under Bower's direction for the back wall of the great room, overlooking the lake, are commonly seen in the arid mountains of Colorado or Nevada, not over a lake in Mississippi. The windows did not meet specifications for Bower's own guidelines in the local climate. R. Vol. 10, 001362, #6. The product was designed in a defective manner because the windows were not sealed or treated to make them water resistant.

The windows failed to meet the express factual representations of Bower's salesperson, Mark McKee, who represented that wood windows would not rot if properly maintained. The McKees reasonably relied upon his representation. R. Vol 3, 000439, p. 117. There was an express verbal warranty. This conversation took place before windows were chosen for the house. The homeowners had described their proposed building specifications and plans. R. Vol. 3, 437-440. They were seeking the agent's advice. *Id.* They were clear that they had no independent knowledge of windows or window construction. *Id.* The agent speaking for the window companies was familiar with the homeowners' proposed location. In fact, he came out often to fish in the homeowners' lake, the very lake next to which the house was constructed, where the picture windows framed its view. R. Vol. 3, 440, p.122-123, Vol. 4, 499, p. 53. He chose the large picture windows and specifically recommended Weather Shield. R. Vol. 3, 439, p. 118. He told them that the wooden windows were reliable, that they would not rot if properly maintained. R. Vol. 3, 439, p. 117. The homeowners relied on this representation, much to their detriment.

-10-

Upon questioning by the Court, Bill Birdsong also expressed an opinion concerning the suitability of the windows and their price. He said, "I feel like that type of house there was probably an allotment of - - you know, they had so much money they could spend on windows. I may be wrong, but I would say that they probably were charged for the most expensive and got the cheapest. Now, that's my opinion." R. Vol. 13, p. 23. The Court then asked, "The finger-joint is cheaper?" and Mr. Birdsong replied, "Yes, sir. It's the cheapest made. I mean, it's just a - - it's as cheap as you can get." *Id.*

The homeowners were never advised that they were purchasing finger jointed windows. R. Vol. 3, 437 - 440. They assumed, based on the representations from the agent, that they were purchasing windows that were at least as reliable as the ones they had maintained next to the Pearl River swamp. *Id.*

The homeowners, however, had made it clear to the window dealer that they wanted their house to "be built in a very nice way" on a "cost plus contract" R. Vol. 3, 000436, p. 108, and that they wanted the windows that were "the best that they had." R. Vol. 3, 000438, p. 115.

There is at least a material issue of fact as to how the Plaintiffs came to make their selections of the windows. There is deposition testimony from both parties that Mark McKee, an employee of Bowers Window & Door Company, Inc.(no relation to the Plaintiffs), R. Vol. 3, 000412, p. 10, discussed the options available, made suggestions, and described the long term effects of the choices in terms of maintenance and reliability. R. Vol. 3, 000439, p. 117. He said that if we wanted wood windows we'd have to maintain them because wood rots and I said, I remember saying, "Yes, we've had wood windows, and we maintain them." *Id.* The homeowners had previously lived close to the Pearl river and had wooden windows which they maintained and which did not rot. R. Vol. 3, 438, p. 113. The fact that Ann McKee had wooden

-11-

windows in her past home did not relieve Bowers of its duty to chose windows that would not immediately rot in her lakeside home. A jury could conclude that Mark's comments served as an express warranty as to the windows and that the express warranty was breached by the companies' derelict performance.

The seller, Bowers Window & Door, (not just Mark McKee) was apprised of the particular requirements of the McKee home. The company knew that the house was intended for a lakeside lot in a high moisture area. R. Vol. 3, 000412, p. 10. The company knew that synthetic stucco was to form part of the exterior shell. R. Vol. 3, 000431, p. 88. They knew that the McKees had maintained wooden windows in their past home and were familiar with maintenance on those former windows which had offered no problems. R. Vol 3, 000439, p. 117. The defects complained of here were latent, and the seller would know that the buyer has not relied on his own judgment, but on that of the seller, who knew or might have known of the existence of the defects.

The windows began to rot within a two-year period, indicating that they were not preserved at all. Additionally, Bowers sold large picture windows which were glazed and not tempered placed in the house within 18 inches of the floor and dangerous. R. Vol. 3, 324, pp. 30-31. The windows were contrary to the Madison County, Mississippi, building code because glazed windows which are not tempered are subject to shattering and causing serious bodily injury. R. Vol. 5, 611 - 612; Vol. 4, 561. Regardless of the structural failure and rot in the other windows of the house, these three very large, expensive, non-tempered windows in the back of the house overlooking the lake had to be replaced.

Mr. Birdsong has also supplemented his opinion with the results from Consumer Reports (Oct. 2007) which gave a poor rating to Weather Shield window products. R. Vol. 6, 864

-12-

(Weather Shield scored "1," "1" meaning "poor." R. Vol 6, 864). It is the testimony of the Plaintiffs' expert that, in his experience, "generally, that when you receive wooden windows like this, they are preprimed by the manufacturer..." "Generally they are." Deposition of Bill Birdsong, p. 56. The Weather Shield literature so states, representing that "...it is not necessary to reprime these surfaces. R. Vol. 10, 001357.

Bill Birdsong testifies that the windows would have to be replaced by tempered glass and that, based on his experience as a construction contractor in Mississippi, the rot to the windows, and consequent rot to the surrounding walls, was a proximate result of improper manufacture. Mr. Birdsong made his assertions based on his own experience in manufacturing windows, and his own observation that the windows should have been metal clad, or mahogany, and should not have had finger joints that allowed moisture invasion. R. Vol. 3, 000323-000324. The company's expert Will Smith agreed that mahogany was more water resistant than pine. R. Vol. 11, 001615, p. 22.

Problems with Weather Shield's water resistant coatings were laid out by Weather Shield itself when it sued the supplier of the wood treatment chemical. *Weather Shield Mfg., Inc. v. PPG Industries, Inc.*, 1998 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22489 (W.D. Wisc. 1998). There, on a motion for summary judgment, the court set out the facts most favorably to Weather Shield, adopting the company's position as follows:

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