# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

# M. CURTISS MCKEE AND ANN CRAFT MCKEE

**APPELLANTS** 

VERSUS

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01314

BOWERS WINDOW & DOOR COMPANY, INC.

# (CONSOLIDATED WITH)

M. CURTISS MCKEE AND ANN CRAFT MCKEE

APPELLANTS

# VERSUS

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01315

WEATHER SHIELD MANUFACTURING, INC.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MADISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2002-0230

# BRIEF OF APPELLEE WEATHER SHIELD MANUFACTURING, INC.

ANDERSON CRAWLEY & BURKE, PLLC TIMOTHY D. CRAWLEY (ME MITZI LEASHA GEORGE (MB ATTORNEYS AT LAW 216 DRAPERTON COURT RIDGELAND, MS 39157 TELEPHONE: (601) 707-8800 FACSIMILE: (601) 707-8801 E-MAIL: <u>TCrawley@ACBLaw.com</u> MGeorge@ACBLaw.com

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

The Appellants' herein designated Bill Birdsong as their only trial expert in the field of wooden windows and disclosed that Mr. Birdsong would testify that the wooden windows purchased from Bowers and installed into their house did not meet the industry standard for that location and caused rot and damage to the Plaintiffs' house. Mr. Birdsong testified that he has been a general contractor in the Central Mississippi and Jackson Metro area for twenty-three (23) years. (R.E. pp. 14, 18; R.V. 3, pp. 318-322). Unlike Dr. DeSalvo, beyond his "personal experience", Mr. Birdsong never received any education above that of receiving his high school diploma and he has no other special education, training or experience specific to windows.

In addition, Dr. DeSalvo based his opinion upon a thorough review of Tiffany Hubbard's medical records, prior to and following the time she slipped and fell during the course and scope of employment with McDonald's. In contrast, as previously established, Mr. Birdsong's entire

ī.

÷

opinion is based upon one (1) cursory view of the outside of the Appellants' house after he was retained to paint its exterior in the spring of 2002. (R.E. p 16; R.V. 3, p. 320). Mr. Birdsong testified that no additional inspection, investigation or tests were ever performed in order to determine whether the windows installed in the Appellants' home were defective. Bill Birdsong did not even return to look at the Appellants' home until a total renovation had already been completed. (R.E. p. 22; R.V. 3, p. 326).

Furthermore, Dr. DeSalvo's opinions were based upon a scientifically grounded theory of causation. When questioned about the standard he was designated to testify about, Mr. Birdsong admitted there wasn't one. After admitting that there was no industry standard or building code restriction, Birdsong testified "there should be"... it is "just Birdsong common sense". (R.E. p. 20; R.V. 3, p. 324). Finally, Mr. Birdsong stipulated that all of the fifty-plus windows in the Appellants' house "don't meet *[his] standard*" (R.E. pp. 20-21; R.V. 3, pp. 324-325), and likewise admitted that, to his knowledge, no other contractor has adopted the "Bill Birdsong Standard" for wooden windows. (R.E. p. 21; R.V. 3, p. 325).

Finally, Dr. DeSalvo's opinions were supported by medical literature. In stark contrast, Mr. Birdsong is unaware of any articles that address the use of wooden windows in a lake setting and he did not rely any on books, magazines, treatises, articles or other publications as a basis for the opinions he intended to offer in this case. (R.E. pp. 14, 25; R.V. 3, pp. 318, 329).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has clearly held that a trial judge is vested with the "gatekeeping responsibility" concerning the admission of expert testimony and, as stated in <u>Daubert</u> and most recently applied in <u>Hubbard ex rel. Hubbard</u>, it *must ensure* that expert testimony admitted at trial is *both relevant and reliable* as required by Rule 702. The Appellants have failed to demonstrate that Mr. Birdsong's testimony is based upon any scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge. In addition, it is neither relevant nor reliable. Birdsong's

opinions are precisely the type of "junk science" that the <u>Daubert</u> Court and Mississippi appellate courts have sought to preclude from jury consideration, they: (1) have not and cannot be tested; (2) have neither been the subject of peer review nor publication; (3) no "technique" is utilized by which to determine if there is a high known or potential rate of error; (4) articulate no standards that can be duplicated and tested; and, (5) as Birdsong admits, his theory has not even been adopted by anyone within the residential construction community.

Additionally, Mr. Birdsong's opinion and theory do not meet the requirements set forth in Rule 702 of the Mississippi Rules of Evidence, in that: (1) his testimony is not based on sufficient facts or data; (2) it is not the product of reliable principles and methods; and, (3) Mr. Birdsong had no principles and methods by which he could have reliably applied to the facts of the case in order to reach his opinion. The trial court's decision to exclude Bill Birdsong's testimony is substantially supported by the evidence. As such, it was not arbitrary or clearly erroneous and falls fundamentally short of what would be considered an abuse of discretion. It is for these very reasons that the Appellants were forced to cite legal authorities from other jurisdictions (e.g. 7<sup>th</sup> Circuit, Wyoming, Rhode Island and District of Columbia), in support of their argument that the trial court's order excluding Bill Birdsong's testimony should be reversed.

A wise Justice on the Mississippi Supreme Court once stated "the whole idea of an expert is to make a technical examination of the facts in the field in which he is qualified, and explain such facts to a jury, which they would not otherwise fully comprehend". Justice Hawkins recognized that "there is a difference between an expert, who makes his living in a special field, and an experienced layman who simply expresses a common-sense opinion that some, and perhaps all of the jurors already know" and there is a danger when permitting such opinions. According to Justice Hawkins, the danger is that "[the Court] remove[s] the levees to the river of

evidence, and permit any kind of speculative testimony the parties wish to be heard by the jury... [c]ommon sense ideas do not supply qualifications for specialty. Shade tree mechanics and quack doctors no doubt have an abundance of common sense. Yet *our* common sense also tells us not to seek one of them out for assistance if we have any alternative". <u>Miller v. Stiglet, Inc.</u>, 523 So.2d 55, 61-62 (Miss. 1988)(Hawkins, J., Dissenting). Bill Birdsong's "shade tree mechanic" opinions were properly excluded by the trial court, which should be affirmed in that regard.

# II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED

### A. Standard of Review

This Court employs the *de novo* standard in reviewing a trial court's grant of summary judgment. <u>Brown v. J.J. Ferguson Sand & Gravel Co.</u>, 858 So.2d 129, 130 (Miss. 2003)(citing <u>O'Neal Steel, Inc. v. Millette</u>, 797 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss. 2001)). In conducting its *de novo* review, this Court looks at all evidentiary matters before it, including admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, and affidavits. <u>Lee v. Golden Triangle Planning & Dev.</u> <u>Dist., Inc.</u>, 797 So.2d 845, 847 (Miss. 2001)(citing <u>Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Berry</u>, 669 So.2d 56, 70 (Miss. 1996)).

The focal point in the *de novo* review is on "material" facts. <u>Roebuck v. McDade</u>, 760 So.2d 12, 14 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)(emphasis added). In defining a "material" fact in the context of summary judgments, this Court has stated that "[t]he presence of fact issues in the record does not *per se* entitle a party to avoid summary judgment. The Court must be convinced that the factual issue is a material one, *one that matters in an outcome determinative sense*." <u>Id</u> (citing <u>Simmons v. Thompson Mach. of Miss.</u>, 631 So.2d 798, 801 (Miss. 1994))(quoting <u>Shaw v.</u> Burchfield, 481 So.2d 247, 252 (Miss. 1985))(emphasis added).

## B. Appellants' Burden of Proof

This Appellee, Weather Shield, would reiterate that the Appellants' sole allegation against it is that the windows manufactured by Weather Shield and used in their home were "a defective product in that they have leaked ever since they were placed in the house". Therefore, this Appellee, Weather Shield, will not address those issues and averments which the Appellants have alleged against Appellee, Bowers Window & Door Company, Inc., as the seller, nor those which would have been more appropriately directed against Ellington Homes, the builder, if any.

### (1) Weather Shield Did Not Manufacture a Defective Product

The Legislature adopted the "Mississippi Products Liability Act" in 1993, which provides, in pertinent part, that in any action for damages caused by a product:

(a) the manufacturer [] shall **not** be liable if the claimant does not prove by the **preponderance of the evidence** that at the time the product left the control of the manufacturer []:...(3) the product was designed in a defective manner... **and** the defective condition rendered the product unreasonably dangerous to the user or consumer, **and** the defective and unreasonably dangerous condition of the product proximately caused the damages for which recovery is sought.

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-63(a)(i)(3),(ii) and (iii) (emphasis added).

Once the claimants have defined their claims according to section (a) and meet the proof requirements delineated therein, they must meet additional statutory requirements for their claim to proceed. <u>Williams v. Bennett</u>, 921 So.2d 1269, 1273 (Miss. 2006). In the case *sub judice*, the Appellants have defined their claim as falling under § 11-1-63(a)(i)(3). As such, their claim is subject to the additional statutory requisites codified in section (f) of the products liability statute, which states:

In any action alleging that a product is defective because of its design pursuant to paragraph (a)(i)(3) of this section, the manufacturer []...shall not be liable if the claimant does not prove by the preponderance of the evidence that at the time the product

left the control of the manufacturer []: (i)...knew, or in light of reasonably available knowledge or in the exercise of reasonable care should have known, about the danger that caused the damage for which recovery is sought; *and* (ii) the product failed to function as expected and there existed a feasible design alternative that would have to a reasonable probability prevented the harm... without impairing the utility, usefulness, practicality or desirability of the product to users or consumers.

Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-63(f)(See also Williams, 921 So.2d at 1274-1275).

Despite the Appellants alleging otherwise, this Court's decision in <u>Moss v. Batesville</u> <u>Casket Co., Inc.</u>, 935 So.2d 393 (Miss. 2006), is directly on point. In <u>Batesville Casket</u>, the claimants filed suit against Batesville Casket due to cracks and separations found in the wood casket in which their mother was buried when her body was exhumed for an autopsy. The claimants proffered one expert in "wood rot, decay and degradation" to support their products liability claim for defective design, Dr. Ramsey Smith, a forest products consultant with the Louisiana Forest Products Development Center at Louisiana State University. Dr. Smith testified that "decay is a natural process in wood, but that wood is a proper material to use to manufacture a casket". The trial court excluded the testimony of Dr. Smith as it pertained to areas admittedly outside his area of expertise. Batesville Casket's motion for summary judgment was granted because the claimants failed to present an expert to demonstrate that there was a defect in the product, a deviation from the manufacturer's specifications, or a defective design.

The Supreme Court rendered its decision in <u>Batesville Casket</u> just six (6) months after its decision in <u>Williams</u>. Therefore, the Court reiterated the same process for successfully demonstrating a claim under § 11-1-63(a) and (f) of the Products Liability Act as outlined herein above. In addition to the language used in <u>Williams</u>, the Court in this case also emphasized § 11-1-63(b), Miss. Code Ann., which provides that:

ī

A product is not defective in design or formulation if the harm for which the claimant seeks to recover compensatory damages was

caused by an inherent characteristic of the product which is a generic aspect of the product that cannot be eliminated without substantially compromising the product's usefulness or desirability and which is recognized by the ordinary person with the ordinary knowledge common to the community.

<u>Batesville Casket Co., Inc.</u>, 935 So.2d at 402-403 (emphasis added)(See also <u>Walker v. George</u> <u>Koch Sons, Inc.</u>, 610 F.Supp.2d 551, 559 (S.D. Miss. 2009)). Agreeing that the claimants failed to present the legally sufficient evidence necessary to maintain a products liability claim, the Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment.

According to the Mississippi Products Liability Act and this Court's decisions interpreting the same, Weather Shield *shall not be held liable* if the Appellants do not prove by a preponderance of the evidence that *at the time the windows left the control of Weather Shield:* (1) the windows were defective and the defective condition rendered the windows unreasonably dangerous; (2) the defective and unreasonably dangerous condition of the windows proximately caused the damages for which recovery is sought; (3) the danger that caused the damage for which the Appellants are seeking recovery was foreseeable; (4) the windows failed to function as expected; and, (5) there was a feasible design alternative that would not impair the utility, usefulness, practicality or desirability of the windows to consumers.

The Appellants have not introduced any testimony whatsoever that the windows used in their home were defective when they left Weather Shield. Based on the testimony offered by Appellants' expert, Bill Birdsong, it is clear that he is wholly unable to testify as to whether the windows were defective when they left Weather Shield, whether they were defective when they left Bowers, or whether they were defective at all. Mr. Birdsong testified that he did not inspect the windows while he was at the Appellants' residence, he was not present when the windows were removed and, the home had been completely remodeled when he returned a second and final time.

Furthermore, there is no evidence that any alleged defect proximately caused the damage to the Appellants' home. In fact, all evidence points to a contrary conclusion -- that the negligence of Ellington Homes, the contractor, proximately caused the damage. This is supported by the fact that the Appellants' neighbor's home, also built by Ellington Homes, had a significant water intrusion issue as well. The Appellants' neighbors had this issue despite the use of a different type of window from another manufacturer.

Finally, in accordance with § 11-1-63(b) and case law interpreting same, an "inherent characteristic" of wood is that it rots. Dr. Smith testified to as much in Batesville Casket, where he said "decay is a natural process in wood, but that wood is a proper material to use to manufacture a casket". The Appellants' expert, Bill Birdsong also testified that "wood rots" and, even though adequate maintenance will extend the life of wood, it will eventually rot. The Appellant, Ann McKee, testified that Bowers' employee, Mark McKee, warned her that "wood windows would need to be maintained because wood rots". Mrs. McKee also testified that she understood that inherent characteristic and that she had wood windows in her previous home. An ordinary person with ordinary knowledge common to the community knows that wood rots it is not a secret that window manufacturers have been keeping from consumers. Rotting is a generic aspect of any wooden product, including windows, which cannot be eliminated without substantially compromising the product's usefulness or desirability. Despite that fact, Weather Shield and window manufacturers, in general, continue to make the wooden windows available to consumers because, like the Appellants herein, they want to purchase them for use in their homes (e.g. these windows are a "desirable product"). The Appellants testified that while they were at Bowers' showroom, they were shown a variety of window styles including, but not limited to, clad, wooden, metal and vinyl-styled windows, and that they preferred the wooden windows manufactured by Weather Shield.

### (2) Weather Shield Did Not Fail to Satisfy An Implied Warranty

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